# History of St. Mary's Church (Dedham, Massachusetts)

The **history of St. Mary's Church in Dedham, Massachusetts** begins with the first mass said in <u>Dedham, Massachusetts</u> in 1843 and runs to the present day

From the first mass with only 8 Catholics present, <u>St. Mary's</u> grew into one of the largest parishes in the <u>Archdiocese of Boston</u> The first church constructed by the congregation was quickly outgrown, and so a second church was built on High Street. Designed to be a "cathedral in the wilderness," it is "the largest and most imposing church in the town" and "one of the most conspicuous edifices" in the town.

Several parishes have grown out of St. Mary's, most recently <u>St. Susanna's</u>. Today it has a large <u>Life Teen</u> program, and over 40 other programs for parishioners.

## **Contents**

**First Catholics** 

**Early Masses** 

First church

Parish growth

#### **Present building**

Cornerstone ceremony

Construction

Dedication

Cost and fundraising

## Early 20th century

Mid-20th century

Late 20th century

#### 21st century

2015 painting

Lower church

#### **Schools**

St. Mary's School and Asylum

Parochial school

#### **Daughter congregations**

St. Raphael's

St. Catherine's

St. Susanna's

#### Notes and citations

Notes

References

Works cited

#### **External links**

## **First Catholics**

The history of Catholicism in Dedham begins in 1758, only 120 years after the settlement of the <u>Contentment Plantation</u> and fully two decades before the American Revolution. During the <u>French and Indian War</u> the British expelled over 11,000 <u>Acadians</u> from what is today <u>Nova Scotia</u> [1][2][3] Eleven of them resettled in Dedham, and though the town and the Massachusetts Bay colony were both officially Congregationalist, they were allowed to reside here as French neutrals [4] until they returned to Canada in 1760[2]

After the Acadians returned to Canada in 1760, Dedham would not see another Catholic resident for decades. The townsfolk would not always be so welcoming. When an Irishman and his wife came to visit friends in the village of Dedham, the Selectmen asked them to leave as soon as possible.<sup>[5]</sup>

The first Catholic who spent any length of time in Dedham was Mr. Gill, who lived in what is today known as Riverdale, but was then called Dedham Island.<sup>[5]</sup> The few Catholics who lived in Dedham would have to travel 16 miles to St. Joseph's in Roxbury, the Cathedral of the Holy Crosson Franklin Street in Boston, or to St. Marys in Waltham to attend Mass.<sup>[2][1][4][6][3]</sup>

## **Early Masses**

By the early 1800s a few Catholics had settled in Dedham. The first Mass in Dedham was celebrated in Sunday, May 15, 1843,<sup>[7]</sup> in the home of Daniel Slattery, with eight Catholics present.<sup>[1][3][4][5][7][8][9][2][nb 1]</sup> An altar was set up by the window.<sup>[11]</sup> For the next three years Slattery's 17-year-old brother-in-law would bring Father James Strain from Waltham and back each Sunday to minister to the needs of the small congregation.<sup>[1][3][4][9][nb 2]</sup>

By 1846, the Catholic community in Dedham was well established enough that the town became part of the mission of St. Joseph's Church in Roxbury.<sup>[1][3][4][7]</sup> The geographic boundaries of the town were much larger at the time, however, and only one Catholic boy lived in the central village in 1850.<sup>[13]</sup>

Slattery was well regarded among his fellow Dedhamites and, when his wife died in 1849, the hands of the clock were stopped at the hour of her death. [11][14][nb 3] The unusual occurrence of a Catholic funeral mass elicited much interest around the town.

The flood of Irish immigrants escaping the Potato Famine necessitated holding Mass in the Temperance Hall, often by Father Patrick O'Beirne. [4][15][16][1][3][5][8][10][11] Mass was also occasionally celebrated in the Crystal Palace on Washington Street. [2] Worshipers came from Dedham, South Dedham, West Dedham, and West Roxbury. [2] Ordained for less than a decade, the 33-year-old O'Beirne had charge of the Catholics in Dedham, Norwood Randolph, Holliston, Walpole, and Needham, as well as Roxbury. [12][nb 4]

## First church

The number and devotion of the first parishioners permitted a church to be constructed within 10 years.<sup>[17]</sup> In 1856 the cornerstone was laid, and in 1857, the first St. Mary's Church was completed on Washington Street between Spruce and Marion Streets.<sup>[3][4][7][18][17]</sup>

On Easter Sunday, April 12, 1857, Father O'Beirne said Mass for the first time in a new church that could seat 600.<sup>[15][17][19][5][7][8][12][nb 5]</sup> Reading from the 20th chapter of John's Gospel, Father O'Beirne proclaimed the news of Jesus' empty tomb.<sup>[7]</sup>



The first St. Mary's Church

# Parish growth

The large growth in the number of Catholics in the area in the middle of the 19th century made the original St. Mary's too small. During this time, St. Mary's was responsible for the mission in South Dedham, which later separated and became the Town of Norwood. [4] Like those closer to the center of town, South Dedhamites would travel to either

Roxbury or to nearby <u>Canton</u> for Mass, but eventually Mass was offered several times a year in the home of Patrick Fahey. By 1860, a priest was available to say mass in South Dedham every other week.<sup>20]</sup>

During the Civil War, "no church in Dedham lost so many men in proportion to their numbers." [4] "Almost to a man," the Dedham Transcript wrote, the Catholic men of Dedham "answered Lincoln's call," [11] and sadly "no church in Dedham lost so many men in proportion to their numbers as did St. Mary's." [1] Their patriotism and deaths did much to counter the anti-Catholic bias that existed in town. [11]

In 1880, the pastor of St. Mary's was also responsible for churches in South Dedham, East Dedham, and West Roxbury. During this decade, Father Johnson was publicly raising the issue of discrimination against Catholics in the public schools. In 1885, as a member of the School Committee, he claimed the principal of the Avery School ridiculed Catholic students, and several years later had a lengthy debate with a Protestant minister via letters in the Dedham Standard about the "rank misrepresentation of the Catholic Church" in a history book adopted by the School Committee.

In 1890 there were an estimated 2,000 parishioners, including 957 Irish, 250 English-speaking Canadians, 58 French,19 Italians and Portuguese. [9] There were 400 students in the Sunday School classes in 188 [24]

# **Present building**

In 1867 a house was purchased on High Street by Father John Brennan and was converted into a rectory. [4][15][16] In February 1880 it was announced that a Protestant who had business in Boston had paid off the parish's \$700 debt, allowing the congregation to commence work on a new building [25] This was welcome news, as the parish was bankrupt at the time.

A building used as a bath by male parishioners of St. Raphael's in East Dedham was torn down on October 10, 1880 in order to be used as a staging ground for the construction of the new church.<sup>[26]</sup>



A newly married couple in St. Mary's

<u>Charles Logue</u>, who built numerous churches in the Greater Boston area as well as Fenway Park, died in the arms of his son while inspecting the roof of St. Mary's in 191<sup>6</sup>/<sub>2.7</sub><sup>7</sup>[28][29]

## **Cornerstone ceremony**

The cornerstone of the present church was laid at 3:00 on October 17, 1880 by <u>Archbishop John Williams</u>. A crowd of between 4,000 and 5,000 people attended, and special trains were run from Boston and Norwood to accommodate all those who wished to attend. It was one of the largest gatherings in Dedham'shistory.

The congregation marched from their present building on Washington Street to the site of the new Church on the High Street for the ceremony. [30] Included in the procession were the Holy Name Society, the Young Men's Lyceum, the Rosary Society, the Young Ladies Solidarity, St. Aloysius Society of Boys, and the Children of Sacred and Holy Angels Solidarity [31]

The crowd included many of the leading citizens of Dedham<sup>[4]</sup> as well as 30 priests.<sup>[30][31]</sup> The clergy included St Mary's pastor, Father Robert Johnson, Father Theodore Metcalf of the <u>Cathedral of the Holy Cross</u> who served as Master of Ceremonies,<sup>[nb 7]</sup> and Father Joseph Henning of Roxbury who gave a homily.<sup>[30]</sup> The Cathedral choir sang and Higgins's band provided music,<sup>[30]</sup> as did the united choirs of Dedham<sup>[31]</sup>

Williams blessed the cornerstone and the place where the foundation was to be poured, as well as the white cross that marked the location of the future altar<sup>[31]</sup>

#### Construction

The current church was constructed next door to the rectory Father Brennan established on High Street.<sup>[24]</sup> The footprint of the Gothic church, which Father Johnson said was to be a "cathedral in the wilderness," measures 150' long by 65' wide, and the bell tower is 164' tall.<sup>[30][24]</sup> The apex of the ceiling is 80'<sup>[34]</sup> and it has the longest aisle in the Archdiocese of Boston.<sup>[35]</sup> It was at the time, and remains today, "the largest and most imposing church in the town" and "one of the most conspicuous edifices" in the town.

There are four large doorways facing High Street, and granite buttresses give the church "an appearance of strength and solidarity." [37] The doors, like the pews, were made of polished oak. [8][37] The altar was carved from Caen stone, [36][37] and the altar rail of green onyx. [36] Today one of those doors is permanently shut as that portion of the vestibule has become a Reconciliation room, and the altar rail has been moved down to the space in front of the front pew. As built, it had a seating capacity of 1,200 in the vestry and 1,500 in the church proper. [36][37] An organ sits high above the nave [36][37] in a choir loft that can hold 50 singers.

The broad front stairs originally pointed out away from the Church with a brass railing in the middle,<sup>[37]</sup> but due to a widening of High Street in the 1920s they were turned to run parallel with the street. When built, the church was said to be fireproof



A map from September 1892 showing the "not entirely finished" church and the parochial hall

with "ventilation and heating system of the best, and the acoustic properties unexcelled." The windows are of "rolled cathedral stained glass" and were made by Tyrolese Art Glass Company a company from Innsbruck, Austria. [40][41]

The interior walls were plastered by <u>William Gould</u>, an escaped slave who settled in Dedham.<sup>[42][43][44]</sup> One of Gould's employees improperly mixed the plaster and even though it was not visible by looking at it, Gould insisted that it be removed and reapplied correctly at his own great expense.<sup>[42]</sup> Lining the Church are fluted Grecian columns<sup>[37]</sup> and seven arches.<sup>[8][34]</sup> Crystal chandeliers hang along both sides of the nave, above the altarand above the doors<sup>[8]</sup>

The semicircular <u>apse</u> had stained glass windows showing, from left to right, <u>St. Patrick</u>, <u>St. Peter</u>, the <u>Assumption of Mary</u>, <u>St. Paul</u> and <u>St. Brigid</u> [8] At either end of the altar are statues of Saints Peter and Paul. In between are three paintings framed by elaborate gothic ornamentation on the rerdos.

The new church was designed by P.B. Ford, and architect with offices on School Street in Boston,<sup>[34]</sup> and built by Welch and Delano.<sup>[31]</sup> They were charged with hiring 18 Dedham men to complete the basement, as well as a master mechanic to serve as superintendent.<sup>[46]</sup> Construction began on June 28, 1880,<sup>[46]</sup> and in 1883 The Dedham Transcript wrote that "The plastering of the new catholic church is nearly finished, the windows put in place, and everything betokens an early occupancy of the basement.<sup>[43]</sup>

While the upper church was still under construction, the lower church was used for Mass and the upper portion for various fairs and other gatherings. The first mass was said in the lower church at 10:30 a.m. on October 24, 1886. The crowd was overflowing, and included 20 Protestants, many of local importance, and a choir from St. Peter's in South Boston. The church, though "in constant use," would not be completed for another 20 years after the cornerstone was laik.

## **Dedication**

After 20 years of working, praying, and fundraising from the meager immigrant wages of many of the parishioners, the Upper Church was finally completed. It took so long that another architect had to take over but was, Father Fleming said, "almost too beautiful for ordinary use." [1][8]

The upper church was completed and dedicated by Archbishop Williams on September 9, 1900 at 10:00 a.m.<sup>[3][33][37]</sup> In addition to Williams, Archbishop Sebastiano Martinelli, the papal delegate to the United States, attended, as did Bishop Denis Mary Bradley of New Hampshire.<sup>[37]</sup> The crowd, numbered at 1,200, included the communion class and many prominent citizens of the Town, including Protestants.<sup>[1][37]</sup> The dedication packed the church, requiring many to stant.<sup>[37]</sup> and tickets were required to enter.<sup>[1]</sup>

The ceremony began with a procession of clergy from the rectory to the church, where a prayer was chanted on the porch at the top of the stairs.<sup>[37]</sup> The clergy then walked around the building, blessing the walls with <u>holy water</u>.<sup>[37]</sup> Back on the porch, the <u>litany of the Saints</u> was said before the interior walls were sprinkled with holy water.<sup>[37]</sup> A final prayer was said in the sanctuary to complete the dedication.<sup>[37]</sup>

Martinelli then said the first mass in the upper church with a number of clergy from the surrounding areas present.<sup>[37]</sup> Music was provided by a choir of 30, plus four soloists and part of the Germania Orchestra of Boston.<sup>[37]</sup>

In his homily, which the Boston Globe published, Bradley said that

Today, my beloved brethren, like unto Solomon on the occasion of the dedication of the Great Temple of Jerusalem, your zealous Pastor proclaims that you have built a house in God's name . . . To you has been reserved the privilege of offering to God a house as worthy of His Name as this beautiful structure in which we are assembled this morning.<sup>[4][8][37]</sup>



A drawing from page 7 of the September 10, 1900, issue of the Boston Daily Globe depicting the Dedication of St Mary's Church in Dedham, Massachusetts

After Mass, at 4:00, about 200 children wereconfirmed, and solemn vespers were sung in the evening<sup>[37]</sup>

## Cost and fundraising

After the cornerstone laying, a dinner was held at a local hall where \$1,250 was donated.<sup>[30]</sup> The largest donation of \$100 came from Timothy Callahan, and he received a golden trowel for his gift.<sup>[30]</sup>

Albert Nickerson, a member of Dedham's St. Paul's Episcopal Church, donated \$10,000 towards the effort. [4][15][nb 10] The Dedham Granite for the outer walls was donated by another Protestant, John Bullard, [4][15] who did not live to see the church completed. The granite came from Bullard's own lot. [3] In 1886 it was estimated the cost would be \$100,000, [34] by 1890 the cost was reported to be \$125,000, [47] and at the dedication in 1900 it stood at \$250,000.

Fundraisers, including a "grand coffee party" in Memorial Hall, were held for years to come to pay for the edifice and drew people not only from Dedham, but from many surrounding communities. [48]

# Early 20th century

In June 1890 Father John H. Fleming arrived at St. Mary's and began a 33-year tenure as pastor.<sup>[1][5][8]</sup> During his pastorate the parish the upper church would be completed, the parish cemetery in West Roxbury would be purchased,<sup>[5]</sup> and the old wooden rectory next to the church<sup>[5]</sup> would be torn down so a new rectory could be built<sup>[17]</sup> of Dedham Granite<sup>[49]</sup> in 1913.<sup>[8][nb 11]</sup> On Sundays, however, the quality of his preaching was such that other priests would come to St. Mary's to listen to the quality of his preaching.<sup>[8]</sup>

The rectory was designed by <u>Edward T. P. Graham.</u><sup>[8]</sup> The stone came from the same quarry as the church, which had to be reopened for the purpose.<sup>[8]</sup> It was donated by General Weld, a Protestant, who daughter converted to Catholicism and became a nun.<sup>[8]</sup> He honored her early death with the donation.<sup>[8]</sup>

In 1901, an unusual double marriage ceremony took place where two sisters, Frances and Mary Curtis, married two men during a single mass.<sup>[50]</sup>

In the 1920s, with the building work completed, new pastor Father Henry A. Walsh was able to focus on the various groups and societies within the parish.<sup>[8]</sup> The Catholic population in the area grew, as did the amount of social activity within the parish.<sup>[8]</sup> By 1936, the parish was one of the largest in the Archdiocese of Boston with 6,000 parishioners, four priests, and six nuns.<sup>[13]</sup> The Sunday School alone had over 1,300 pupils<sup>[13]</sup>

Within months of arriving as pastor in 1929, Father George P. O'Connor began a parish school with three Sisters of St. Joseph. [8] He also began a <u>Catholic Youth Organization</u>, and was generally regarded as having a focus on youth. [8] He also added an additional floor to the rectory to accommodate the assistant priests coming to the parish.

Father Mark C. Driscoll became pastor in 1943, and two years later became a <u>monsignor</u>.<sup>[8]</sup> In 1953, Driscoll purchased land at 700 High Street to be used as an adult center.<sup>[8]</sup> When he celebrated his <u>golden jubilee</u> of his priesthood, Cardinal <u>Francis Spellman</u> returned to Boston and celebrated the Mass.<sup>[8]</sup> Cardinal Richard Cushing provided the homily<sup>[8]</sup>

# Mid-20th century

In 1953, the newly established St. John Chrysostom Church in Vest Roxbury took some of St. Mary's territors [51]

Following the reforms the Second Vatican Council, a new temporary altar was installed in the church in 1964, and a permanent oak altar was in place in 1965. Monsignor Edward C. Bailey, who became pastor in 1960, also introduced microphones and speakers into the cavernous church, and remodeled both sacristies. He also added additional exterior doors to the church.

A new <u>carillon</u> was added in 1962, and the bells pealed the <u>Angelus</u> and the call to worship on Sundays.<sup>[52]</sup> By the 1990s, however, the bells no longer chimed, but a tape recording played three times a da<sup>[53]</sup>

In the 1960s, St. Mary's remained one of the largest parishes in the archdiocese. A new convent was needed for the nuns who worked at the school. A total of \$300,000 was pledged for a larger convent, and it was paid off within three years. The construction began in the spring 1963, was finished the summer of the following year, and had stained glass windows in the chapel depicting Jesus and Mary. When it opened on Avery Street, 15 nuns movedin and there was space for  $22^{[3][8]}$  The old convent was torn down, and a parking lot was put in its place. At the confirmation mass in 1965, BishopThomas Joseph Rileyblessed the new building.

The church was still too small, and was too much work for one pastor and three assistant priests, however. A second parish was established for the Riverdale neighborhood, St. Susana's, in 1962.<sup>[8]</sup> In 1968, Fr. Frank Daly came to St. Mary's.<sup>[54]</sup> He later was married and left the priesthood.<sup>[54]</sup> In 2016, two years after the death of his wife, he returned to his priestly facultie.<sup>[54]</sup>

Monsignor Charles F Dewey became pastor in 1969<sup>[52]</sup> It was Dewey who hired the Andover Organ Company to renovate the <u>Hook</u> & <u>Hastings</u> organ in the choir loft, which was said to be one of the finest in the Archdiocese. In the 1970s the lower church was renovated, and a reconciliation room was added.

# Late 20th century

In 1975, Father Edward Banks, S.J. arrived at St. Mary's. He had previously taught in Baghdad, Iraq, but "our friend" <u>Saddam Hussein</u> expelled him as an American spy.<sup>[53]</sup> He had grown up in St. Catherine's<sup>[55]</sup> and also spent time in other Middle Eastern cities.<sup>[53]</sup> With one brief intermission, he would remain at St. Mary's until his death in 2001.<sup>[56]</sup> It was a sign of the mutual affection between Banks and the parish that his funeral was held at St. Mary's, and not at the Jesuits' Campion Centers would be typical for a member of his religious order.<sup>[56]</sup>

In 1980, in preparation for the 100th anniversary of the church, small changes were made to the pews to improve traffic flow during Communion. [52] A coronation tapestry also hung behind the statue of Mary in the lower church.

The number of people attending mass each week began to drop off rather dramatically in the early 1990s. In 1989, the average weekly attendance was 2,843 people.<sup>[57]</sup> By 1995, however, it dropped to just 1,030.<sup>[57]</sup> The following year, 1996, Father (later bishop) John Anthony Dooher and Father Chris Hickey arrived at St. Mary's within weeks of each other. Mass attendance increased

by 50% that year alone, and in 1997 it was over 2,500.<sup>[57]</sup> In September 1997, Hickey and youth minister Seán Flynn began a <u>Life</u> Teen program to minister to high school students.

# 21st century

As of 2016, the parish had 2,700 families as parishioners.<sup>[3]</sup> The nature of the parish switched from being a place simply where sacraments were offered, to offering more social services as well.<sup>[3]</sup> The parish grounds are currently used for community groups such as three Alcoholics Anonymous groups, senior citizens, and a Moms and Tots group.<sup>[3]</sup> There are between 600 and 700 people who come to the church each week<sup>[3]</sup>

The parish itself has 40 active groups.<sup>[3]</sup> These include outreach to the poor and senior citizens, a crocheting, knitting, and quilting group, a women's bowling league, book clubs, and youth groups.<sup>[3]</sup> In addition, the St. Joseph's Chapel in the parish center is open from 6 a.m.-9 p.m. each day<sup>[3]</sup>

## 2015 painting

After consulting with the Parish and Finance Councils and holding a parish-wide Town Hall Meeting in the spring of 2014, Pastor William Kelly proposed repainting the interior of the Upper Church for the first time in over 25 years.<sup>[58]</sup> It was originally painted with vibrant colors and patterns, but in the 1970s was completely painted in white with gold trim. As reasons for undertaking the project Kelly cited the need to maintain the physical structure of the church, the upcoming 150th anniversary of the parish, long-term planning and the collaborative process by which St. Mary's and nearby St. Susana's would come under a single pastor, and beauty in itself being "a fundamental element for our human, spiritual and intellectual happiness." [58]



Ceiling above the altar

The cost was projected to be \$300,000 and pledges were requested.<sup>[58]</sup> The donations and pledges made were insufficient, however, so the plans were scaled back, a loan was taken out to cover the remainder, and a second collection was instituted once a month.<sup>[59]</sup> As conducted, the project included the four walls of the church and the sanctuary, the two side altars, Stations of the Cross, the ceilings in the side aisles, and the center columns as high as the <u>capitals</u>.<sup>[59]</sup> The center arches, main ceiling and choir loft were not included.<sup>[59]</sup> The painting included many colors, and white stars painted on a blue background above the altar. Children of the parish were invited to sponsor a star.<sup>[60]</sup> The project began on January 5, 2015<sup>[61][62]</sup> by the Graham Company and finished by the end of March.<sup>[63]</sup>

## Lower church

In 2010, the parish sold the parking lot across High Street to the Town of Dedham and a housing developer. The proceeds were used to demolish the old school building, and to re-purpose the lower church. Half of the lower portion of the church is a clubhouse for the LifeTeen program, and the other half is a multipurpose gathering space known as Mary Half!

The pews from the lower church were salvaged and reused. Some became wall paneling and table stock for fast food restaurants, and others were transformed into serving boards for high-end restaurants. The pew ends were sold as is. [64]

## **Schools**

## St. Mary's School and Asylum

Though not sponsored by the parish, in 1866 the <u>Sisters of Charity</u> founded the St. Mary's School and Asylum at what was formerly Temperance Hall, where some of the first Masses were said in Dedham two decades before. The land was sold to them the sold to the

Whatever prejudices may naturally exist against the establishment of a Roman Catholic School in so central a location, the community cannot but feel that the transformation of a building recently used only for the indiscriminate sale of liquors into an institution founded for 'promoting virtue, learning and piety in the town of Dedham' is an object worthy only of the most exalted motives, and in this view should be accepted as a public blessing [9]

Soon after Sister Catherine of Syracuse, New York, Sister Veronica of Troy, New York, and Sister Anselm of Chicago, Illinois, arrived on July 20, 1866, they endeared themselves to the community.<sup>[70]</sup> One year later, the school was educating 60 girls and was home to 10 orphans.<sup>[70][71]</sup> By 1871, the first parochial school in Norfolk County was winning praise in the press for "elevating the foreign class both intellectually and morally [73]

The school held a number of fundraisers,<sup>[73]</sup> but with the heavy debt of the parish the school closed on June 27, 1879.<sup>[73][71][67][68]</sup> The closure was intended to be temporary<sup>[67]</sup> but it never reopened.<sup>[15]</sup> The building was sold in 1905.<sup>[74]</sup>

The School's superiors included Sisters Mary Ann Alexis, Mary Frances, and Mary Vincent, and its teachers included Sisters Mary Josephine, Mary Martin, Mary Genevieve, Mary Theotina, Mary Martin, and Mary Vincent, among others. [74]

## **Parochial school**

A parochial school was started in 1932 by Father George P. O'Connor and run by the Sisters of St. Joseph. [71] For the first few years the school was limited by the lack of space, [75] and classes were held in the convent. [8] On June 16, 1935, the cornerstone for a new school was laid using the same golden trowel and ivory handle that was used in 1880 for the church. [75] In September 1936, the new building on High Street was open. [3][8]

On Sunday, January 24, 1954, it was announced that an increase in the school population required more space. <sup>[8][76]</sup> The new school was constructed on the Greenhood Estate on High Street, which had been purchased several years before. <sup>[76]</sup> The cost of the 16-room school was estimated to be \$450,000. <sup>[76]</sup>

A new school building was constructed in 1958, and in 1966 it had over 800 students.<sup>[4][8]</sup> It was in the 1960s that the 8th grade was added.<sup>[8]</sup> The school had two classes per grade, with both nuns and laity as teachers.<sup>[8]</sup> The school had a debt of \$250,000, but it was paid off by 1966.<sup>[8]</sup>

In 1973 it was announced the school would close in 1975.<sup>[3][77]</sup> The school was largely vacant for many years, being used only for CCD classes.<sup>[3]</sup> In the 1990s it was used by the <u>British School of Boston</u>, and the <u>Rashi School</u>, a Boston area Reform Jewish K-8 independent school.<sup>[3]</sup> The building was razed in 2010.<sup>[3][4][78]</sup>

# **Daughter congregations**

There have been a total of four congregations that have had territory partially split off from St. Mary's: St. Raphael's in East Dedham (1878), St. Catherine's in South Dedham (Norwood), (1890), West Roxbury's St. John Chrysostom (1952), and St. Susanna's in the Riverdale section of Dedham (1960).

## St. Raphael's

Due to the growth of the Catholic population, about 200 parishioners in East Dedham were reassigned in January 1878 to Father Richard Barry's care in the Germantown Association's Chapel (St. Theresa's Church<sup>[17]</sup>) in West Roxbury.<sup>[79]</sup> On October 28, 1878, St. Raphael's Chapel was established on Thomas Street<sup>[17]</sup> in East Dedham<sup>[21][80][15]</sup> with the territory that had been broken off from St. Mary's.<sup>[81]</sup> Dedicated by Archbishop Williams,<sup>[21]</sup> St. Raphael's sat about 400 people,<sup>[81]</sup> and in 1880 they added a hall for the amusement of young men at a cost of \$8,000.<sup>[21]</sup>



A map from 1888 showing St. Raphael's Church in a red circle at top left

Many were not pleased with the change, [79] and the first mass was attended by only six people. A petition was presented to Archbishop Williams asking him to reunite the parishes, and proposing to transform the chapel that had been erected into a school [82]

The new parish sponsored Court 26 of the <u>Catholic Orders of Foresters</u>. [83] The Court survived the Church, staying active at least into the 1920s. [84] After it burned to the ground on December 17, 1887, St. Raphael's was mged back into St. Mary's [85][18]

## St. Catherine's

Only six years after building the first church, another building was purchased from the Unitarians of South Dedham at the site of the present day St. Catherine's rectory. The purchase price was \$3,000. Named for St. Catherine of Siena, it was dedicated on August 3, 1863. The Town of Norwood broke away from Dedham in 1872, and St. Catherine's was established as a separate parish in 1890 with 1,500 parishioners.

#### St. Susanna's

By the 1930s St. Mary's was one of the largest parishes in the Archdiocese with over 6,000 parishioners and 1,300 students in Sunday School.<sup>[13]</sup> During the middle of that decade there were four priests and six nuns ministering to the congregation.<sup>[13]</sup> In the 1950s it became clear that a second parish was needed in Dedham,<sup>[nb 14]</sup> and so St. Susanna's was established in 1960 to serve the needs of the Riverdale neighborhood. When St. Susanna's opened it had 300 families, while 2,500 stayed at St. Mary's. The first pastor of St. Susana's, Michael Durant, lived at St. Mary's while his church was being constructed.

## **Notes and citations**

#### **Notes**

- While the Slattery home is still standing, at the corner of Washington and Worthington Streets, at the time it was on the corner of Washington and High, where the Police Station sits in 2016<sup>[3][10]</sup> During the Revolution, the Worthington Street land was the site of an enampment for French troops under the command of Count Rochambeau<sup>[11]</sup>
- Father Strain was born in Ireland in 1815, and was received into the Diocese of Boston in 1840. He had a rather tumultuous career here, and bounced around not only from parish to parish, but even to several other dioceses, before eventually returning to Ireland in 1850.
- 3. Slattery "was well educated, had a practical knowledge of agriculture," according tDedham Historical Society librarian and archivist Sandra Waxman. He held "considerable property" and had a "splendid education and a wide knowledge of Arbor culture. [11] He also set out many of the trees in Dedham [11]
- 4. The Irish-born O'Beirne had previously served in \(\nabla rmont\), Rhode Island, and Maine, which were then parts of the Diocese of Boston. [12]
- 5. One source says it was Christmas Day [10]
- 6. Johnson served two terms, from 1884 to 1890.

- 7. Theodore Metcalf was a descendant of Michael Metcalf, a signer of the dedham Covenant and the first teacher in Dedham, the first public school in America<sup>[4]</sup>
- 8. Also known in German as the Troler Glasmalerei Anstalt.
- 9. The Tyrolese Art Glass Company was a leader in the use of style of composition and painting techniques which became known as the Munich Style [38] which was very popular at the time [39]
- 10. Nickerson was the wealthiest man in Dedham at the time of his death. He was a philanthropist, and donated to several causes in Dedham, including other churche [3]
- 11. Parr has the date as 1915[49]
- 12. Baily was born in Waterford City, Ireland and moved to Watertown, Massachusetts at the age of 9. He was ordained in the Archbasilica of St. John Lateranin 1927 and given the title monsignor in 1963<sup>[8]</sup>
- 13. Actually sold to Ann Alexis Shorb, Andrea Corryand Aloysia Reed as trustees[65]
- 14. The population of the town as a wholemore than doubled between 1936[87] and 1970.[88]

#### References

- 1. "St. Mary's: "A cathedral in the wilderness". The Dedham Times. October 5, 2001. p. 14.
- 2. Smith 1936, p. 100.
- 3. Vogler, Paula (April 21, 2016). "Parish looks to origins as members celebrate anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/20160421/parish-looks-to-origins-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (http://dedham.wickedloca l.com/news/2016041/parish-as-members-celebrate-anniversary (
- 4. "History: St. Mary's Church" (http://stmarysdedham.com/about-us/history) St. Mary's Church, Dedham, MA Retrieved March 9, 2015.
- 5. Sullivan, M.D., James S. (1895) *Archdiocese of Boston, St. Mary's Parish, DedhamA Graphic, Historical, and Pictorial Account of the Catholic Church of New England* Boston and Portland Illustrated Publishing Company p. 667.
- 6. Byrne, Leahy, Dowling, Young, and Finen 1899 pp. 323-4.
- 7. "New Catholic Church". The Dedham Transcript. October 30, 1886. p. 3.
- 8. *St. Mary's Church, Dedham, Massachusetts*,1866-1966, *Our Centennial Year.* Hackensack, N.J.: Custombook, Inc. Ecclesiastical Color Publishers. 1966.
- 9. Byrne, Leahy, Dowling, Young, and Finen 1899 p. 324.
- 10. "St. Mary's at Dedham: First Services in the Basement of the New Catholic Church Crowded--Many Protestant Donors Present" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dbc/493298286.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=hist oric&date=Oct+25%2C+1886&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc: ST.+MARY+S+AT+DEDHAM.). Boston Daily Globe October 25, 1886. p. 5 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 11. "Daniel Slattery's house and the Temperance Hall". The Dedham Times. August 8, 1995. p. 6.
- 12. Letter of Ksenya Kiebuzinski, Archdiocese of Boston archivist, to Robert Hanson, Dedham Historical Society February 8, 1990. Archives of the Dedham Historical Society
- 13. Smith 1936, p. 102.
- 14. Clarke, William Horatio (1904 XI 14). "Mid-Century Memories of Dedham *Transcript*. Check date values in: | date=(help)
- 15. Byrne, Leahy, Dowling, Young, and Finen 1899 p. 323.
- 16. Hurd 1884, p. 78.
- 17. Smith 1936, p. 101.
- 18. Cook, Louis Atwood (1918). History of Norfolk County Massachusetts, 162-1918 (https://books.google.com/books? id=HzoWAAAYAAJ&pg=PA425&lpg=PA425&dq=%22st+raphael%22+%22east+dedham%22&source=bl&ots=8dm Afhseut&sig=P7hM-xTgqZFLXgitBksgDQsNCKw&hl=en&sa=X&ei=NuT9VL\_zIlegyQT1kIGIDA&ved=0CDIQ6AEwBu #v=onepage&q=%22st%20raphael%22%20%22east%20dedham%22&f=false)L. S.J. Clarke publishing Company p. 425.
- 19. Hurd 1884, p. 323.
- Fanning, Patricia J. (2002). Norwood: A History (https://books.google.com/books?id=rAtnIKCKl3EC&dq) Arcadia Publishing. pp. 22–23.

- 21. "Pastoral Removals: Changes in the Parishes of Hyde Park, Dedham and Wast Roxbury--Feeling in Those Localities. The Young Men of the Parish. Much Regret was Expressed at the Loss of Father Conlau'(https://secure.pqarchiver.com/boston-sub/doc/492306590.lml?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Feb+9%2C+1880&a uthor=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=RSTORAL+REMOVALS.).

  Boston Daily Globe February 9, 1880. p. 4 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 22. "Charges Against Mr Howard: Does the Principal of the Avery School, Dedham, Discriminate Against Cath- olics(ht tps://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/493252175.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=CITE:Al&type=historic&date=Jun+1 4%2C+1885&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=CHARCES+AG/INST+MR.+HOWARD.). Boston Daily Globe June 14, 1885. p. 16 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 23. Johnson 1889, p. 18.
- 24. Hurd 1884, p. 79.
- 25. "A Church Debt Cancelled" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492328804.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=CITE:A l&type=historic&date=Mar+1%2C+1880&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpare=&desc=A+Church+Debt+Cancelled.) Boston Daily Globe March 1, 1880. p. 4 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 26. "Dedham" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dbc/492368894.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=CITE:Al&type=historic&date=Oct+10%2C+1880&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DEC HAM.). Boston Daily Globe October 10, 1880. p. 2.
- 27. Stout, Glenn (October 11, 2011). Fenway 1912: The Birth of a Ballpark, a Championship Season, and Fenway's Remarkable First Year (https://books.google.com/books?id=WxtCeQ2nXWgC&dq)Houghton Miflin Harcourt.
- 28. Brady, Ed (Summer 2012). "1950" (http://issuu.com/bcua/docs/bcm\_summer2012\_final-combined/8)Boston College Magazine. Retrieved April 12, 2015.
- 29. Bowen, Max (January 14, 2016). "Celebratory events planned for 150th anniversary at St. Mary's (http://dedham.wickedlocal.com/article/20160114/NEWS/160117517) The Dedham Transcript. Retrieved May 12, 2016.
- 30. "Suburban Matters" (https://www.newspapers.com/clip/1951858dedication\_of\_st\_marys\_church\_in/) Boston Post. October 19, 1880. p. 4 Retrieved March 9, 2015 via Newspapers.com 3
- 31. "An Interesting Ceremony: Performed by Archbishop Williams at Dedham. Laying the Corner-stone for a New Catholic Church. Sermon by Rev Joseph Henning of Boston–A Large Gathering"(https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492368458.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Oct+18%2C+1880&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=AN+INTERSTING+GEREMONYBoston Daily Globe. October 18, 1880. p. 4 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 32. Berry, Jason (2012). <u>Render Unto Rome (https://books.google.com/books?id=nXZNBd9IZDgC&dq)</u>Crown Publishers, p. 109.
- 33. "2009 Catholic Appeal To Launch" (http://www.bostoncatholic.org/uploadedFilesBostonCatholicorg/\_Utility/News\_And\_Press/Press\_Releases/2009\_Press\_Releases/News\_releases\_2009\_statement090306.pdfPDF) (Press release). Braintree, MA:Archdiocese of Boston March 6, 2009. Retrieved 2015-03-12.
- 34. "Dedham's New Church: What Rev Father Johnson Has Done for His Society" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/493549424.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Oct+24%2C+1886&author=&pub=Boston-Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DEDHAM%27S+NEW+CHURCH #Joston Daily Globe. October 24, 1886. p. 3 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 35. O'Donnell, Liz (May 24, 2009). "The Forever Wrgins" (https://pqasb.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dc/405160055.htm I?FMT=FT&FMTS=ABS:FT&type=current&date=May+24%2C+2009&author=Anonymous&pub=Boston+Globe&edition=&startpage=&desc=The+Forever+Wrgins). The Boston Globe p. Magazine. Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 36. "Dedham Catholic Church Dedicated"(https://news.google.com/newspapers?nid=2249&dat=19000908&id=U5c-AA AAIBAJ&sjid=MFoMAAAAIBAJ&pg=3188,1048670&hl=en)Boston Evening Transcript. September 8, 1900. p. 38 Retrieved April 12, 2015.
- 37. "Notable Day for Catholics of Dedham: St Mary's Church Dedicated With Elaborate Ceremonies, Apostolic Delegate
  -Martinelli Officiating Sermon by Bishop Bradley of Manchester, N H" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dbc/
  499379705.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Sep+10%2C+1900&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=NOABLE+DAY+FOR+THE+CATHOLICS+OF+DEDHAM)

  Boston Daily Globe September 10, 1900. p. 7. Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 38. "Munich Glass" (http://www.lumenchristiart.com/munich-glass.html). Lumen Christi Art.
- 39. Santa Ana, Katherine (December 9, 2015)."The Archivist's Nook: Historic Stained Glass of Caldwell Chapel(http://www.lib.cua.edu/wordpress/newsevents/7077). The Catholic University of America Retrieved January 7, 2016.

- 40. Gone Churching (March 3, 2013)."St Mary of the Assumption Dedham Ma'(https://www.flickr.com/photos/4777166 2@N07/8529528032/in/set-72157632914240371)(photo). Retrieved March 25, 2015. "Window by Tyroler Glasmalerei Anstalt (TGA of Innsbruck) with maker's mark in lower right corner
- 41. *The Architectural Annual* (https://books.google.com/books?id=7odHAQAAIAAJ&dq=dedham+%22st+mary%22+winc ows+-essex+-stratford+-tarif&source=gbs\_ravlinks\_s). Architecture. 1900. p. 305.
- 42. Stephen K. Brayton (2003). ""Diary of a Contraband" Professor Gould Relates Story Of Dedham Civil War Veteran Who Escaped Slavery" (http://dedhamhistorical.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/DHS-Sept-2012-newsletter-final.pd f) (PDF). Dedham Historical Society Newsletter(July). Retrieved March 12, 2015.
- 43. Gould, William Benjamin (2002). Diary of a Contraband: The Civil War Passage of a Black Sailor (https://books.google.com/books?id=UwJSaKtpn9cC&dq=catholic+dedham&source=gbs\_navlinks\_s}tanford University Press. p. 43.
- 44. Weiss, Mike (September 2, 2002). "CHRONICLE PROFILE / William B. Gould IV / Stanford professor finds peace in publishing slave ancestor's diary / Liberating account by Civil War sailor" (http://www.sfgate.com/news/article/CHRONICLE-PROFILE-William-B-Gould-IV2802754.php). San Francisco Chronicle Retrieved April 6, 2015.
- 45. "Father John Dooher: Putting faith into practice" The Dedham Times. October 5, 2001. p. 14.
- 46. "Dedham" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/cbc/492304463.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=CITE:Al&type=historic&date=Jun+27%2C+1880&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DELHAM.). Boston Daily Globe June 27, 1880. p. 1.
- 47. Nason, Elias; Varney, George Jones (1890). *A gazetteer of the state of Massachusetts*(https://books.google.com/books?id=eFgoAAAAYAAJ&q=dedham#v=snippet&q=%24125%2C000&f=false)B.B. Russell. p. 267.
- 48. "In aid of St. Mary's" (https://www.newspapers.com/clip/1978719grand\_coffee\_party\_held\_at\_memorial/) Boston Post. October 19, 1895. p. 1 Retrieved March 13, 2015 via Newspapers.com 3
- 49. Parr 2009, p. 19.
- 50. "Two Sisters Married at Dedham" (https://www.newspapers.com/clip/1978629 two\_sisters\_married\_in\_one\_ceremon y\_at/). Boston Post. June 6, 1901. p. 6 Retrieved March 13, 2015 via Newspapers.com 3
- 51. "Parish History" (http://www.stjohnchrysostom02132.org/histoy.asp). St John Chrysostom Parish, West Roxbury. Retrieved March 25, 2015.
- 52. Commemorative Booklet of the Jubille Mass in Celebration of the One-Hundredth Anniversary of Saint Mary of the Assumption Church Dedham, Massachusetts 1880-1890. October 17, 1980.
- 53. "Fr. Banks honors church traditions". The Dedham Times. August 4, 1995. p. 7.
- 54. Farragher, Thomas (March 25, 2017)."After leaving the priesthood for love, a return to the altar(https://www.boston\_globe.com/metro/2017/03/25/after-leaving-priesthood-for-love-return-altar/ebR/MyZSgGgF3C0a5BsMP/storyhtml? p1=Article\_Trending\_Most\_Mewed). The Boston Globe Retrieved March 25, 2017.
- 55. "Parish History" (http://www.stcatherinenorwood.org/?page\_@=250). St. Catherine's Parish Retrieved October 17, 2016.
- 56. "Memorials" (http://jesuits.org/Assets/Publications/File/NJN\_v31n1\_Oct\_2001.pdf)PDF). National Jesuit 31 (1). October 2001. p. 16 Retrieved October 17, 2016.
- 57. Archdiocese of Boston."St. Mary's Dedham, Sacramental Data, 1989-2015'(https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1GKiQQEjM5GkSMWF6XP5GM81i81pNO3IKzb0U6TRiPo0/edit?usp=sharing)
- 58. "Letter Regarding the Painting of the Church' (http://stmarysdedham.com/letter-regarding-the-painting-of-the-church). St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. June 6, 2014Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 59. <u>"Fr. Kelly's Weekly Letter: January 18, 2015"(http://stmarysdedham.com/fr-kellys-weekly-letter-january-18th)</u>St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. January 18, 2015Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 60. <u>"Fr. Kelly's Weekly Letter: March 15th"(http://stmarysdedham.com/fr-kellys-weekly-letter-march-15th)</u>St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. March 15, 2015 Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 61. <u>"Fr. Mark's Letter: January 11th"(http://stmarysdedham.com/fr-marks-letter-january-11th)</u>St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. January 11, 2015 Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 62. "Fr. Kelly's Weekly Letter: January 4th"(http://stmarysdedham.com/fr-kellys-weekly-letter-january-4th)St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. January 4, 2015 Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 63. <u>"Fr. Kelly's Weekly Ketter: March 29th"(http://stmarysdedham.com/fr-kellys-weekly-letter-march-29th)</u>St. Mary of the Assumption Parish. March 29, 2015 Retrieved April 3, 2015.
- 64. "Church pews salvaged from St. Mary of the Assumption (http://dedham.wickedlocal.com/article/20150213/News/15 0218085). The Dedham Transcript. February 13, 2015 Retrieved March 12, 2015.

- 65. Austin 1912, p. 159.
- 66. Austin 1912, p. 160.
- 67. "St. Mary's School: Some interesting records concerning its establishment https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492276333.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Aug+19%2C+1879&author=&pub=Boston+Day+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=SFMARY%27S+SCHOOL) The Boston Daily Globe August 19, 1879. p. 4.
- 68. Robert Hanson (2005). "The Inn Thing: Taverns of Dedham" (http://dedhamhistorical.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/0 4/dhs\_news\_03-05.pdf) (PDF). Dedham Historical Society Newsletter (March).
- 69. Austin 1912, p. 161.
- 70. Austin 1912, p. 162.
- 71. Smith 1936, p. 138.
- 72. Lord, Sexton, and Harrington 1944 p. 316.
- 73. Austin 1912, p. 164.
- 74. Austin 1912, p. 165.
- 75. Smith 1936, pp. 138-139.
- 76. "Campaign For Funds To Be Launched For Construction Of New St. Mary's School". The Dedham Transcript. January 29, 1954.
- 77. Parr, James L. (June 16, 2012). "Aerial views of old Dedham accompanied by quotes from Steely Dan songs(http://dedhamtales.com/2012/06/16/aerial-views-of-old-dedham-accompanied-by-quotes-from-steely-dan-songs/)
  Retrieved March 25, 2015.
- 78. Edward B. Colby (October 27, 2010) 2010 Demolition of St. Mary's School in Dedham(https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5AvHLN28tYs) (YouTube). Dedham, Massachusetts The Dedham Transcript. Retrieved March 12, 2015.
- 79. "Dedham: Religious and Political Movements -Notes of the Day Aboutown" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492191276.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&date=Jan+9%2C+1878&author=&pub=Boston+Daiy+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DEDHAM.)Boston Daily Globe January 9, 1878. p. 8

  Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 80. "St. Anne's Parish History" (http://www.saintannereadville.org/historyhtm). St. Anne's Church, Readville, MA Retrieved March 9, 2015.
- 81. "A New Catholic Church" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492225618.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&t ype=historic&date=Oct+28%2C+1878&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=A+NEW+CATHOLIC+CHURCH.) Boston Daily Globe October 28, 1878. p. 1 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 82. "Dedham" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/doc/492239417.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=ABS:Al&type=historic&d ate=Nov+25%2C+1878&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DED HAM.). Boston Daily Globe November 25, 1878. p. 2 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 83. "Verdict of Six Cents Rendered"(https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dbc/500388527.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=A BS:Al&type=historic&date=May+20%2C+1905&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281872-1922%29&edition=&tartpage=&desc=VERDICT+OF+SIX+CENTS+RENDERED)Boston Daily Globe May 20, 1905. p. 2 Retrieved March 13, 2015.
- 84. "Dedham" (https://secure.pqarchivercom/boston-sub/dbc/497261645.html?FMT=Al&FMTS=CITE:Al&type=historic&date=Apr+10%2C+1923&author=&pub=Boston+Daily+Globe+%281923-1927%29&edition=&startpage=&desc=DEC HAM). Boston Daily Globe April 10, 1923. p.A9.
- 85. Lord, Sexton, and Harrington 1944 p. 317.
- 86. "St. Catherine of Siena" (http://www.stcatherinenorwood.org/) St. Catherine of Siena Parish, Norwood MA Retrieved April 12, 2015.
- 87. *Guide Book To New England Travel* (http://www.oldandsold.com/articles16/new-england-roads-26.shtml) 1919. Retrieved March 14, 2015.
- 88. State Data Center/Mass. Inst. for Social & Economic Research!"Population of Massachusetts Cities and Towns, 1940-1990" (https://web.archive.org/web/20040206174526/http://www.bostonmpo.org/bostonmpo/data/pop40\_90.pd f) (PDF). Boston Metropolitan Planning AgencyArchived from the original (http://www.bostonmpo.org/bostonmpo/data/pop40\_90.pdf) (pdf) on February 6, 2004 Retrieved 2006-12-10.
- 89. "Saint Susanna" (http://www.bostoncatholicdirectorycom/Web\_Parish.asp?ektronid=4502) Archdiocese of Boston Retrieved March 13, 2015.

## Works cited

- Austin, Walter (1912). <u>Tale of a Dedham tavern: history of the Norftk hotel, Dedham, Massachusetts</u> Riverside Press.
- Byrne, William; Leahy W. A.; Dowling, Austin; Young, E. J. A.; Finen, J. E. (1899). Introductory. The Hurd & Everts co. pp. 323–324.
- Hurd, Duane Hamilton (1884). *History of Norfolk County Massachusetts: With Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men J. W. Lewis & Company*
- Johnson, Robert J.; Cooke, George Willis (1889) <u>Sectarian School-books: A Series of Letters</u> A. Mudge & Son, Printers.
- Lord, Robert Howard; Sexton, John E.; Harrington, Edward T(1944). <u>History of the Archdiocese of Boston, 1886-1943</u>. Sheed & Ward.
- Smith, Frank (1936). A History of Dedham, Massachusetts Transcript Press.

## **External links**

- Parish Website
- St. Mary's LifeTeen

Retrieved from 'https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php? title=History\_of\_St.\_Mary%27s\_Church\_(Dedham,\_Massachusetts)&oldid=831322605

This page was last edited on 20 March 2018, at 00:18.

Text is available under the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike Licenseadditional terms may apply By using this site, you agree to the <u>Terms of Use and Privacy Policy.</u> Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the <u>Wikimedia Foundation</u>, Inc., a non-profit organization.</u>